THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

RECEIVED

SEP 27 2017

APPEAL FROM LEE COUNTY  
General Sessions Court  
Clifton B. Newman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

S. C. SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2014-GS-31-00050  
Appellate Case No. 2015-000175

---

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Dennis E. Hoover,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Jack B. Swerling  
1720 Main Street, Suite 301  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
Telephone: 803-765-2626  
South Carolina Bar number 5457

Katherine Carruth Goode  
229 South Congress Street  
Post Office Box 1175  
Winnsboro, South Carolina 29180  
Telephone: 803-799-4440  
South Carolina Bar number 8951

Attorneys for Appellant

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in admitting a report of a medical examination, and testimony concerning the contents of that report, under the business records exception to the rule against hearsay?
2. Did the trial court err in allowing the alleged victim, Justin Boyce, to testify concerning appellant's feelings toward his brother, Marshall Boyce?
3. Did the trial court err in allowing inflammatory comments and questions by the solicitor during his cross-examination of appellant?
4. Did the cumulative prejudice from the trial court's errors deny appellant a fair trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Dennis E. Hoover, was indicted by the grand jury of Lee County on a charge of attempted murder. R. pp. 1-2. On January 20-22, 2015, he was tried before a jury, with Judge Clifton B. Newman, Jr., presiding. R. p. 4. The jury returned a verdict of guilty of the lesser-included offense of assault and battery in the first degree. R. p. 376. Judge Newman sentenced him to nine years' imprisonment and ordered him to pay restitution to the alleged victim in the amount of \$2,820. R. pp. 3, 388.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arose from an altercation between appellant and Robert Justin Boyce on January 4, 2014, in the men's restroom of a convenience store in Lee County, South Carolina. There were no witnesses to the altercation other than appellant and Boyce.

Each claimed the other was the attacker. Appellant testified Boyce physically assaulted him, pulled a knife, and cut him, and that his actions in response were in self-defense.

Appellant and Boyce were both from the same community in a rural section of Lee County. R. pp. 99, 107, 149. They knew each other and had past dealings with each other and members of their families. R. pp. 107-08, 151-52, 246, 262.

At the time of the incident, Boyce was 36 years of age. R. p. 142. He and his younger brother, Marshall, had a past history of altercations with people, including appellant. Appellant described an incident in June 2011 in which the Boyce brothers assaulted him, causing injuries, and leaving him in a ditch. R. pp. 246-48, 262-63, 405-12. Others in the community were aware of the 2011 incident. R. pp. 100, 163, 231-34, 237-39. Two of those witnesses actually heard that scuffle from a distance. R. pp. 231, 234, 241. Because of that prior attack and other instances in which the Boyce brothers had blocked him in the road and darted at him with 18-wheelers, appellant was in fear of them. R. pp. 261-62.

Another witness who had worked as a bartender described a prior incident in which the Boyce brothers and a third individual attacked a customer. R. p. 223. She believed it was their intention to do so when they entered the bar. R. p. 223. She testified they simply walked up to the customer and, without really saying anything, jumped on him. R. p. 223. The senior superlative section of Marshall Boyce's high school yearbook named him the "biggest troublemaker." R. pp. 154-55.

Appellant was 60 years of age at the time of the 2014 incident and suffered from a heart condition. R. pp. 242-43. He had four stents in his heart and was on three heart medications that caused him to tire and bruise easily and to have shortness of breath. R.

pp. 243-45. He testified that, because of his poor health, he was not one to seek a fight with anyone. R. p. 244. Prior to this incident, appellant had no criminal record. R. p. 208.

The accounts of the altercation in the men's room were in sharp dispute. Boyce testified someone entered the restroom while he was in one of the stalls. R. pp. 111-12. He claimed that when he came out of the stall, appellant suddenly attacked him, coming at him with his fists and then cutting him. R. pp. 113, 130. He claimed appellant was "thrashing" or "raking" him with something shiny and he put his hands up to protect himself, but he had no wounds on his arms and only one cut on a hand. R. p. 132. He described the altercation as a "scramble." R. p. 134. Despite his testimony that it was appellant who engaged in an attack, he told the investigating officer that he made punches at appellant as well. R. p. 192.

Appellant testified it was Boyce who attacked appellant. After using a urinal, appellant was standing at the sink to wash his hands when the stall door opened and he heard the person behind him say, "It's gonna be worse this time old man." R. pp. 260, 293-94. He looked up and saw in the mirror that it was Boyce. R. p. 260. Boyce was standing right over his left shoulder and grinning, he hit appellant in the back of the head, then threw punches. R. pp. 260, 294-95. They tussled, and appellant tried to hit back but was not able to get in a good "lick." R. pp. 260, 295. Boyce hit appellant, who then felt something hot and knew it was a knife. R. p. 260. They grappled and fell to the floor. R. p. 260. While they were rolling on the floor, Boyce dropped the knife and appellant was able to grab it. R. pp. 260-61. Appellant did not deny that he inflicted Boyce's wounds, but he stated he did so in self-defense. R. p. 261. Boyce's cuts occurred after

appellant was able to get the knife and while they were rolling and wrestling on the floor. R. p. 264. When the altercation ended, appellant quickly left the store and returned to his truck to leave, because he knew Boyce kept an assault rifle in his truck and he feared for his life. R. pp. 267-68, 278-79.

Boyce admitted he had a knife on him at the time of the incident. R. p. 124. Appellant testified it was this knife which he ultimately was able to grab and with which he inflicted Boyce's wounds. R. pp. 260-61. Indeed, in appellant's statement to law enforcement officials the morning of the incident, he informed them he still had the knife, stating it was Boyce's, he was "done with it," and Boyce could have it back. R. pp. 171. Despite this statement, when the officers searched appellant's house for evidence and saw many knives there, they seized only some box cutter blades. R. pp. 194-95, 199. They did not seize a single knife from appellant's house in an attempt to determine if in fact Boyce's knife had ended up in appellant's possession and whether it was the instrument used in the altercation, consistent with appellant's account.

In addition to admitting he had a knife when the incident occurred, Boyce told the investigating officer he had the knife on his person when the officer questioned him following the incident. R. pp. 124, 203-04. Despite this information, the officer did not ask Boyce to produce the knife or attempt to inspect it. R. pp. 203-05. Rather, he simply took Boyce's word that he never took his knife from his pocket during the incident. R. pp. 205-06. Boyce's cell phone, which had also been in his pocket, was left behind in the restroom and had to be retrieved for him. R. p. 117. The defense contended the cell phone came out at the same time he drew his knife from his pocket, consistent with appellant's account that it was Boyce who pulled a knife on appellant. R. pp. 260, 295.

In addition to the failure to take possession of Boyce's knife, law enforcement also failed to collect other critical evidence which would have corroborated one version or the other given by the only two individuals involved. Although officers took numerous photographs at the scene, they did not take a single photograph of the interior of the restroom immediately following the altercation. R. pp. 19-20, 181. Thus, there was no evidence depicting blood smears on the restroom floor, consistent with appellant's account, or showing the absence of such blood, to contradict that account. Although an officer photographed appellant's hands and face, he did not ask him to remove his shirt or take any pictures of appellant's torso, where appellant testified he had been cut. R. pp. 183-85, 265-66, 311.

Law enforcement also did not question the store's janitor, who was present in the store and mopping at the time of the incident, who went into the men's room to retrieve Boyce's cell phone, and who could have described the nature and location of blood in the restroom and thereby corroborated appellant's account that Boyce's cuts occurred while they were rolling on the floor. R. pp. 210-11. The janitor's testimony would have been crucial on another point as well. The store's video surveillance footage depicted a white truck pulling into the parking area outside, sitting for more than a minute, moving off screen for a brief period, returning to the screen and stopping directly behind Boyce's truck, then backing up and moving off screen again some two minutes prior to appellant's entering the store. R. pp. 177-78; State's Exhibit 2. The state contended appellant was the driver of this white truck, but appellant asserted he drove his green truck that morning, not his white truck. R. pp. 251-52, 258, 268, 273-74, 291. The janitor is shown looking out into the parking area after appellant left the store. State's Exhibit 2. Had the

state questioned the janitor, he could have verified that appellant left in his green truck, not the white truck depicted in the video minutes before he entered the store.

Appellant had attempted to have arrest warrants issued for the Boyce brothers following the 2011 incident, but law enforcement refused. R. pp. 247, 266. Because of his past history of not being assisted by law enforcement, appellant did not call the authorities after the 2014 incident. R. p. 268. He testified he did not look for help from law enforcement officers because they did not help him before. R. pp. 266, 268.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING A REPORT OF A MEDICAL EXAMINATION, AND TESTIMONY CONCERNING THE CONTENTS OF THAT REPORT, UNDER THE BUSINESS RECORDS EXCEPTION TO THE RULE AGAINST HEARSAY.

Appellant testified that he was cut and bruised in the incident. R. pp. 260, 266, 311-12. In rebuttal, the state attempted to refute appellant's claim of injury with hearsay evidence purporting to establish that he lacked injuries. The evidence the state sought to introduce was a report of a medical examination of appellant conducted at the time of his booking and testimony of the custodian of that report concerning its contents. R. pp. 327-29. Over defense objections, the court admitted this evidence under the business records exception to the rule against hearsay. R. pp. 329-34. This ruling was reversible error.

The witness who testified about the booking report was the administrative captain of the Sumter-Lee Regional Detention Center. As part of her duties, she was the custodian of the records there. R. p. 327. However, she was not the person who conducted the medical examination, which she testified was done by qualified medical personnel at the facility. R. p. 328. The defense objected to her testimony concerning

this report on hearsay grounds, argued the proper party to testify concerning appellant's medical examination was the medical personnel, and further objected to admission of the report itself. R. pp. 329, 331-32. The court admitted both the testimony and the report under the business records exception to the rule against hearsay. R. pp. 329-31, 334.

Hearsay evidence is inadmissible unless it falls within one of a number of specific recognized exceptions. See Rule 802, SCRE. The exception under which the court admitted this evidence was the exception for records of regularly conducted activities, commonly referred to as the business records exception. See Rule 803(6), SCRE. That exception provides:

A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, or diagnoses, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness, unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness; ***provided, however, that subjective opinions and judgments found in business records are not admissible.***

Rule 803(6), SCRE (italics in original; bold emphasis added).

In this case, the court erred in admitting the hearsay testimony of the report's custodian and the report itself, because the information contained in the report and testified to by the custodian were the subjective medical opinions of the medical professional who conducted appellant's medical examination. Such evidence is inadmissible under the specific exception in Rule 803(6) for subjective opinions and judgments, emphasized above. See *In re Care and Treatment of Harvey*, 355 S.C. 53, 62, 584 S.E.2d 893, 897 (2003) (log of treatment center for juveniles with sexually aggressive behaviors was not admissible under business records exception because it

contained subjective opinions and judgments about the progress of the committed patient's treatment and behaviors); *Duncan v. Ford Motor Co.*, 385 S.C. 119, 137, 682 S.E.2d 877, 886 (Ct. App. 2009) (appraiser's report of the value of a home was inadmissible under Rule 803(6) because it contained the appraiser's subjective opinion as to that value); *see also South Carolina Dep't of Motor Vehicles v. McCarron*, 391 S.C. 136, 147 n.11, 705 S.E.2d 425, 430 n.11 (2011) (incident report containing officer's observations was inadmissible under the exclusion for subjective opinions and judgments contained in both Rule 803(6) and Rule 803(8), SCRE).

Moreover, this evidence was prejudicial. The evidence in this case was very weak, as more fully recounted in the Statement of Facts, *supra* at 1-5. Only two persons had knowledge of what actually happened in the restroom, and their accounts were contradictory. The evidence that could have corroborated one account or the other was not collected by law enforcement officials in the course of their investigation. The outcome of the trial depended entirely on which of the two men the jury found credible. Allowing inadmissible hearsay evidence of subjective opinions as to appellant's medical condition was highly prejudicial, because it contradicted appellant's testimony that he was cut and bruised in the altercation with Boyce. This information likely influenced the jury in finding Boyce's claims more credible than appellant's assertion that Boyce physically attacked him, pulled a knife, and cut him. Under these circumstances, the improper admission of this evidence was not harmless but reversible error. This Court should remand for a new trial.

II. THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE ALLEGED VICTIM, JUSTIN BOYCE, TO TESTIFY CONCERNING APPELLANT'S FEELINGS TOWARD HIS BROTHER, MARSHALL BOYCE.

The state attempted to elicit testimony from Boyce concerning appellant's feelings toward Boyce's brother, Marshall. The defense consistently objected to this testimony but the court ultimately allowed it. The question and answer exchange, and the intervening objections and rulings, are as follows:

Q All right. Do you know why Dennis Hoover and your brother were at odds?

A **Marshall Boyce told me before that ---**

THE (sic) MR. JONES: Your Honor, **object to what (sic) hearsay.**

THE COURT: All right. Objection is sustained as to any hearsay.

BY MR. GENTRY:

Q Okay. Well, let me ask you this, if he didn't say anything to you did you have any idea what the dispute was about?

A Yes, sir.

MR. JONES: **Objection, must lay foundation.**

THE COURT: What's your response to the objection[?]

MR. GENTRY: Judge, I'm asking him if he knew what the dispute was between him and his brother which caused this episode on June, I believe, of 2011.

THE COURT: You can tell us if you know the nature of the dispute.

BY MR. GENTRY:

Q Do you know the nature of the dispute? If you know.

A I -- it was kind of -- **I was kind of out of the loop. Marshall had said to me ---**

Q No, I don't want to hear what Marshall said. Did Marshall have turkey houses?

A Yes.

Q Was Marshall cooperating with Tommy Hoover?

A Yes.

Q All right. You know if that upset Dennis Hoover?

MR JONES: **Objection**, Your Honor.

MR. GENTRY: If he knows.

THE COURT: Overrule the objection.

MR. GENTRY: Do you know ---

THE COURT: You've asked the question. He can answer the question.

BY MR. GENTRY:

Q Okay, go ahead (sic) answer, if you know.

A Yes, sir, it upset him.

R. p. 146, line 14 – p. 148, line 5 (emphasis added). The court committed reversible error in allowing Boyce to testify concerning appellant's feelings toward Marshall, information he knew *only* as the result of inadmissible hearsay, *not* through his own personal knowledge.

The passage quoted above demonstrates that Boyce's knowledge of the alleged dispute between his brother and appellant was solely based on what Marshall had said. Twice he began his answers by stating what Marshall had told him. R. p. 146, line 16; p. 147, line 15. Indeed, when asked if he knew the nature of the dispute, he answered that he "was kind of out of the loop" and then proceeded to answer with respect to what Marshall had said. R. p. 147, lines 12-15. His admission that he "was kind of out of the loop" revealed that he did not have personal knowledge but was testifying only based on what Marshall had told him. Later, when he was asked if he knew if Marshall's cooperating with Tommy Hoover upset appellant, the defense appropriately again objected, because it was apparent that Boyce's knowledge was attributable to what Marshall had said. The court erred in overruling this objection and allowing the testimony concerning appellant's feelings toward Boyce's brother.

"A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter." Rule 602, SCRE; *see State v. Frazier*, 357 S.C. 161, 167, 592 S.E.2d 621, 624 (2004). Where testimony is objected to on hearsay grounds and no exception to the rule against hearsay applies, the requisite foundation that must be laid is evidence that the witness has direct personal knowledge of the matter, knowledge not derived from hearsay. *See, e.g., South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Jennifer M.*, 404 S.C. 269, 287 n.12, 744 S.E.2d 591, 600 n.12 (Ct. App. 2013); *Watson v. Sellers*, 299 S.C. 426, 432, 385 S.E.2d 369, 372 (Ct. App. 1989); *Ellison v. Pope*, 290 S.C. 100, 103, 348 S.E.2d 367, 369 (Ct. App. 1986). When the defense objected on the basis of foundation, it was incumbent upon the court to

require the state to lay a foundation that the testimony was based on the witness's personal knowledge, not merely upon hearsay. *See* Rules 602, 802, SCRE.

As noted in Argument I, hearsay is generally inadmissible. *See* Rule 802, SCRE. Early in this line of questioning, the court correctly recognized the inadmissibility of Boyce's testimony based on what he had been told by his brother. After the court sustained the defense's hearsay objection and the witness continued to cast his testimony in terms of what his brother had said, the solicitor changed tactics and began asking questions with respect to what the witness "knew." This change was intended to circumvent the adverse ruling on hearsay grounds and nonetheless get the same testimony into evidence by other means. The defense properly interposed a foundation objection, because it was apparent the foundation for this witness's so-called knowledge was purely hearsay. Against the backdrop of Boyce's testimony based on what Marshall said and his own admission that he was out of the loop – *i.e.*, **did not have personal knowledge** – the court erred in allowing the witness to answer without first requiring the state to lay a non-hearsay foundation for the witness's ultimate testimony as to appellant's feelings toward Marshall.

This error was not harmless. The state's case was premised entirely on the testimony of Boyce concerning what happened in the men's room. Appellant disputed Boyce's account and testified to a very different version of events, with Boyce threatening him verbally and precipitating the conflict by striking him from behind, unprovoked. The investigating officers woefully failed to gather evidence that was available and would have confirmed which person's account was accurate, as noted in detail in the Statement of Facts, *supra* at 1-5. The case turned entirely on the credibility

of the two individuals involved in the altercation. Under these circumstances, the improper hearsay testimony that appellant was upset with Boyce's brother likely influenced the jury to believe that it was appellant, not Boyce, who instigated the altercation. The error in admitting this improper evidence was highly prejudicial, and this Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

### III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING INFLAMMATORY COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS BY THE SOLICITOR IN HIS CROSS-EXAMINATION OF APPELLANT.

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