RECEIVED  
SEP 27 2017  
RECEIVED  
S.C. SUPREME COURT  
SEP 27 2017

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

S. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Lee County  
Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2015-000175

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Dennis E. Hoover,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III  
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

Rule 803(6), SCRE.

The trial court properly admitted the report as a business record. It clearly meets the requirements of being a “report . . . made at or near the time, by . . . a person with knowledge.” The report was made when he was booked into the jail later the same day of the incident. Further, the report is something maintained in the regular course of business at the jail as testified to by the report’s custodian. (T. 528-529; R. 327-328).

The argument the report contains subjective opinion and does not comply with Rule 803(6) is not preserved for review on appeal. Appellant never raised this issue to the trial court, instead only raising a general objection based on the best evidence being from the medical personnel that conducted the examination or on hearsay. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 609 S.E.2d 520 (2005) (finding to preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled on by the lower court); State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (“A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.”).

Additionally, the report contained only visible, objectively verifiable facts, and not subjective opinion. The two main questions asked about by the solicitor both include the statement “visible signs” clearly indicating an objective, observable basis for the answer and not the subjective opinion of the person making the report. The report does not include any conclusions or opinions developed as a result of the examination conducted, merely the objective results of the visible examination. Whether or not someone has “visible signs” of cuts, bruises, or bleeding is not subjective but is exactly the type of recordation the business record exception is intended to cover. As a result, the trial court clearly did not err in admitting the Jail Medical Screen History Report under the Rule 803(6) business record exception to the hearsay rule.

**II. The trial court properly allowed the victim to testify to information within his personal knowledge. Further, even if the testimony could be improper and not based on personal knowledge, Appellant opened the door to the testimony, and, therefore, the State was allowed to present the testimony even if otherwise inadmissible.**

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in allowing the victim to testify to information outside his personal knowledge that he obtained only through hearsay. This argument is belied by the colloquy establishing the victim was testifying from his own personal knowledge. Nonetheless, even if the testimony was hearsay, Appellant opened the door to its admission by addressing the prior incidents between Appellant and the victim's brother during cross-examination of the victim. As a result, the State was entitled to admit the testimony, even if otherwise improper, to explain or clarify what Appellant's counsel first raised in cross-examination.

On cross-examination, Appellant's counsel went into great detail with the victim regarding an incident in which the victim and his brother encountered Appellant. (T.236-240; R.138-142). The victim and his brother stopped their truck after Appellant started waving a stick at them. When the victim's brother exited the truck, Appellant and the victim's brother got into an altercation. The victim broke it up. (T.238-239; R. 140-141). However, the two reengaged in the fight, and the victim was hit by the victim's brother. (T.239; R. 141). The victim and the victim's brother attempted to help Appellant back up and offered him a ride, but Appellant refused. Appellant then had words with the victim's father who had arrived at the scene. The parties subsequently went their separate ways. (T.239-240; R. 141-142).

On redirect, the State sought to provide explanation for the argument and altercation between Appellant and the victim's brother. The victim was asked if he knew

why Appellant and his brother were at odds. He began to respond based on information his brother told him, but was stopped and an objection to hearsay was sustained. (T.247; R. 146). He explained he did know what the dispute was about. He further stated he knew his brother had turkey houses. (T.248; R. 147). The victim was then asked if his brother was cooperating with Appellant's brother, and responded affirmatively. When the victim was asked: "You know if that upset Dennis Hoover?" Appellant's counsel objected, but the judge allowed the testimony if the victim knew. (T.248-249; R. 147-148). The victim responded: "Yes, sir, it upset him." (T.249; R. 148). Appellant contends this question and answer were inappropriate because they were not within the victim's personal knowledge.

First, the question begins "You know . . ." as a means of prefacing the question by asking if the victim had personal knowledge of whether it upset Appellant. He did not respond with hearsay based on having been told by his brother or anyone else. Instead, he indicated he had knowledge. As a result, the testimony was entirely proper under Rule 602, SCRE ("A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter. Evidence to prove personal knowledge may, but need not, consist of the witness' own testimony."). Further, it was not inadmissible hearsay because he did not relay any out of court declaration made by anyone, including his brother, and instead, merely explained his own understanding. See Rule 801(c), SCRE (defining hearsay).

Additionally, even if the testimony was based on hearsay, it was properly admitted because Appellant opened the door by examining the victim regarding the incident between the victim's brother and Appellant. Ordinarily, when a party introduces

evidence about a particular matter, the other party is entitled to explain it or rebut it if the testimony would otherwise confuse the jury. State v. Beam, 336 S.C. 45, 52, 518 S.E.2d 297, 301 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing State v. Stroman, 281 S.C. 508, 316 S.E.2d 395 (1984)). Otherwise inadmissible evidence may be properly admitted when opposing counsel opens the door to that evidence. State v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 415-16, 605 S.E.2d 540, 544 (2004). “[W]hen a party introduces evidence about a particular matter, the other party is entitled to explain it or rebut it, even if the latter evidence would have been incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially.” Beam, 336 S.C. at 52, 518 S.E.2d at 301; see also, State v. Jackson, 364 S.C. 329, 336, 613 S.E.2d 374, 377 (2005). The testimony elicited from the victim sought to explain and provide the complete picture for the jury regarding the altercation between Appellant and the victim’s brother so as to not confuse the jury or leave them without an explanation. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in allowing the testimony because it was clearly within the knowledge of the victim and not hearsay, and, in the alternative, Appellant opened the door to the State’s explanation of the circumstances surrounding the altercation, and therefore, even otherwise inadmissible testimony was properly admitted.

**III. All of the comments Appellant complains of were either stricken from the record by the trial court or never had an objection ruled on by the trial court and, therefore, are not preserved for review on appeal.**

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in allowing the solicitor to make inflammatory comments and questions during his cross-examination of Appellant. He specifically points to three sections of the colloquy between Appellant and the solicitor during cross-examination. Two of the comments were objected to by Appellant and the trial court sustained the objection and struck portions of the colloquy without any further requests or objections by counsel. Appellant admits the objection by Appellant's counsel to the other comments and questions by solicitor was never ruled upon by the trial court and, therefore, is not preserved for review on appeal.

Appellant raises three colloquies between the solicitor and Appellant he contends improperly attacked his character, impermissibly allowed the solicitor to express his personal opinion, and were intended to evoke juror prejudices. First, the issues as raised are not preserved because Appellant never contended to the trial court the specific basis for his arguments now before the Court. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 609 S.E.2d 520 (2005) (finding to preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled on by the lower court); State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) ("A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.").

Further, there is no merit to his contentions as they relate to each individual colloquy because the Court either addressed the questions or Appellant failed to obtain a ruling. As to the first colloquy, Appellant maintained he went to the emergency room the same day as the incident. (T.497; R. 304). When asked if he had the records, he

responded he did not but “My word is good enough.” The solicitor responded “Okay. You might think so, sir, but there are people who would dispute that?” (T.497-498; R.304-305). Appellant’s counsel objected, and his objection was sustained. He then asked: “I ask that it be stricken.” The trial court then explained: “The jury is to disregard that comment by counsel.” Accordingly, Appellant received the relief he requested. See State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981) (“Inasmuch as the appellant obtained the only relief he sought, this court has no issue to decide.”); State v. Thompson, 304 S.C. 85, 87, 403 S.E.2d 139, 140 (Ct. App. 1991) (Appellant obtained the only relief he sought and, therefore, the Court has no issue to decide); see also, State v. Wilson, 389 S.C. 579, 583, 698 S.E.2d 862, 864 (Ct. App. 2010) (“When an objecting party is sustained, the trial court has rendered a favorable ruling, and therefore, it becomes necessary that the sustained party move to cure, or move for a mistrial if such a cure is insufficient, in order to create an appealable issue.”).

The second colloquy occurred shortly thereafter, in which the solicitor and Appellant were discussing Appellant’s version of the “fight” that occurred in the restroom. Appellant described him and the victim rolling on the floor: “It was sky, or ceiling, floor. You ever been in a fight? That the way it goes.” The solicitor responded: “I doubt I’ve been in as many as you have.” Appellant continued to respond to the solicitor as his counsel attempted to interject an objection. (T.498; R. 305). Counsel attempted again and his client responded: “Don’t try to make me out to be a bad man because I’m a lover.” (T.499; R. 306). The trial court never ruled on the objection and Appellant never attempted to get a ruling. Instead, he continued to respond to the solicitor without further prompting and the objection was abandoned by counsel.

Appellant admits in his brief the trial court did not rule on the issue. (App. Br. P. 13). As a result any issue with this particular testimony is not preserved for review on appeal. “There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125 n.2, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 n.2 (2013) (citing Jean H. Toal, Shahin Vafai & Robert A. Muckenfuss, Appellate Practice In South Carolina, 57 (2nd ed. 2002)); see also State v. Moultrie, 316 S.C. 547, 451 S.E.2d 34 (Ct. App. 1994) (holding in order to preserve an issue, the defendant had to not only raise the issue, “but also to obtain a ruling on the issue from the trial judge”). Accordingly, Appellant cannot now complain he never received any relief from the trial court when he never sought a ruling on his objection.

Finally, Appellant contends a colloquy regarding whether Appellant was comfortable being examined by a male lead to improper comments by the solicitor. When the solicitor asked: “You’re not a big fan of gay people, are you?” Appellant responded: “Well they stay over there, I stay over here.” Without an objection appearing in the record by Appellant, the trial court ruled: “The objection is sustained to the extent that the question solicited in response that was just given. The jury is to disregard the question.” (T.518; R. 325). Appellant’s counsel then requested: “Will the Court so instruct.” The trial court explained: “Whenever the Court sustains an objection the jury is to disregard the comment.” Appellant’s counsel never requested any further relief from the court. As a result, he received the relief he requested at trial. See Sinclair, 275 S.C. at 610, 274 S.E.2d at 412 (“Inasmuch as the appellant obtained the only relief he sought,

this court has no issue to decide.”); Thompson, 304 S.C. at 87, 403 S.E.2d at 140 (Appellant obtained the only relief he sought and, therefore, the Court has no issue to decide). Accordingly, there are no grounds upon which this Court can reverse Appellant’s convictions because trial counsel either failed to obtain a ruling or received the exact relief requested.

Finally, there is no indication Appellant’s attack of the victim was in any way based upon his dislike of or discomfort with homosexuals, nor is there any indication in the record the victim was homosexual. Quite the contrary, as the victim was married and his wife testified at trial. The attack was based on a long standing feud between Appellant and the victim’s family over turkey houses. As a result, the questions by the solicitor and the responses by Appellant could not have influenced the jury’s decision. See State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006) (“Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”).

**IV. Appellant did not raise an issue related to cumulative prejudice at trial and so the issue is not preserved for review on appeal. Further, none of the issues presented are error and, therefore, their cumulative nature cannot be prejudicial error which denied Appellant a fair trial.**

Appellant maintains this Court should reverse his conviction based on the cumulative prejudicial error raised in his first three arguments. Initially, he never raised cumulative error to the trial court so the issue is not preserved for review on appeal. Significantly, Issues I and II were clearly not error and, therefore, could not have contributed to any cumulative prejudicial error. Even if Issue III established any error, he received exactly the relief he asked for by having the trial court strike two of the colloquies and instructing the jury to disregard the statements. As a result, there is no cumulative error on which this Court should base a reversal and this Court certainly should not use the cumulative error doctrine as a means of circumventing the preservation or waiver rules.

First, Appellant never raised the cumulative error doctrine to the trial court. He never raised it during trial or even in a post-trial motion after trial, and as a result, the issue is not preserved for review on appeal. See State v. Beekman, 405 S.C. 225, 236, 746 S.E.2d 483, 489 (Ct. App. 2013) (finding cumulative error doctrine must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be addressed on appeal). Appellant seems to be asking this court to completely ignore longstanding preservation and waiver rules, and instead address this issue as plain error. South Carolina has rejected the plain error doctrine and this Court should not entertain it under the guise of the cumulative error doctrine. See e.g., State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 66, 406 S.E.2d 315, 327 (1991) (eliminating *in favorem vitae* review in death penalty cases and holding: “A

contemporaneous objection requirement enables trial judges to make reasoned decisions by appropriately developing issues by way of argument, both for or against any particular legal proposition. This, in turn, allows potential errors to be prevented or cured.”).

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